Uldaho Law

Digital Commons @ Uldaho Law

Idaho Supreme Court Records & Briefs, All

Idaho Supreme Court Records & Briefs

12-24-2019

Bennett v. Bank of Eastern Oregon Appellant's Brief Dckt. 47346

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

A. Nature of Case

This case presents a question as to whether a property owner may quiet title against a stale and unenforceable deed of trust it granted to secure a loan. Plaintiffs-Appellants, Bret and Mary Bennett, sued Defendant-Respondent, Bank of Eastern Oregon (“BEO”), to quiet title to their real property situated in Payette County, Idaho. The first basis was the lapse of the statute of limitations, pursuant to Idaho Code § 5-214A within which the grantee could foreclose on the deed of trust. Second, on BEO’s violation of Idaho Code § 45-1503(1), Idaho’s One Action Rule. Lastly, the Bennetts also sought to quiet title with regards to a judgment BEO recorded in 2010 but has since expired due to the operation of Idaho Code § 10-1110.

B. Course of Proceedings

The Bennetts initiated the lawsuit on April 24, 2019 by filing a Complaint to Quiet Title. *Clerk’s Record (CR) 2, 5-36*. BEO’s counsel, Yturri Rose, LLP, filed a Notice of Appearance on May 31, 2019. *CR 2*. Shortly thereafter, on June 3rd, BEO filed its Motion to Dismiss pursuant to Idaho Rule of Civil Procedure 12(b)(6). *CR 2, 37-39*. The parties each filed pre-hearing memorandums asserting their positions. *CR 3, 40-56, 59-68, 69-80*. A hearing was then held on the motion on July 19, 2019. *CR 81-84*. At the hearing, the Court orally granted BEO’s motion to dismiss. *Id.* The Order and Judgment dismissing Plaintiff’s case were then entered on July 26, 2019. *CR 3, 90-92, 93*. The Bennetts then filed their Notice of Appeal on September 4, 2019. *CR 3, 86-89*. BEO did not cross appeal. *CR 2-4*.

C. Statement of Facts.

The district court disposed of this case upon BEO's motion to dismiss pursuant to Rule 12(b)(6) of the Idaho Rules of Civil Procedure. *CR 81-83*. As such, the facts are those as alleged in the Complaint and are not in dispute.

The Bennetts are residents of Payette, Idaho, living at the real property located at 303 S. Iowa Ave., Payette, Idaho (formally 301 S. Iowa Ave., Payette, Idaho); legally described as:

That portion of the West Half of the Southwest Quarter of the Southwest Quarter in Section 35, Township 9 North, Range 5 West of the Boise Meridian, Payette County, Idaho, described as follows:

Beginning at a point located 25 feet East and 718.3 feet North of the Southwest corner of said Section;
Thence East to the East side line of said West Half of the Southwest Quarter of the Southwest Quarter;
Thence North 261.2 feet;
Thence West to a point due North of the Point Of Beginning;
Thence South 261.2 feet to the Point Of Beginning,
EXCEPT the North 100 feet of the West 330 feet thereof

(hereinafter referred to as "The Residence"). *CR 5-6, Compl. ¶ 1*. The Bennetts are the fee simple owners of The Residence. *Id.*

In 2007, the Bennetts began operating Apache Motorsports, Inc. ("Apache Motorsports"), located at 2482 SW 4th Ave., Ontario, Oregon 97914, a motorsports retail and repair business. Apache Motorsports leased a building from Tomahawk Properties, LLC ("Tomahawk Properties"), a company also owned by the Bennetts. *CR 6, Compl. ¶ 5*. In 2008, Apache Motorsports and/or Tomahawk Properties acquired one or more business loans from BEO. *CR*

6-7, *Compl.* ¶ 6. The Bennetts personally guaranteed these loans. *Id.*

As part of the aforementioned financing package with BEO, the Bennetts either executed a \$100,000.00 promissory note (Loan No. 10576825) or personally guaranteed said obligation, and granted BEO a security interest, by way of deed of trust, in The Residence as collateral for said obligation. *CR 7, Compl.* ¶ 7; *CR 13-19*. The deed of trust was recorded with the Payette County Recorder's Office on April 11, 2008, as Instrument Number 352655. *CR 7, Compl.* ¶ 8; *CR 13*. The loan number for the promissory note secured by the deed of trust is identified on the deed of trust at the top of pages 2-6 as Loan No. 10576825. *CR 7, Compl.* ¶ 8; *CR 14-18*. The deed of trust expressly states that it was executed "in connection with a loan or other financial accommodations between [BEO] and Apache Motorsports, Inc.; and Tomahawk Properties, LLC." *CR 7, Compl.* ¶ 9; *CR 19*. Additionally, the deed of trust expressly states that its maturity date is May 5, 2009. *CR 7, Compl.* ¶ 10; *CR 18*.

At some point after the execution of the BEO loan documents, including Loan No. 10576825 and the deed of trust securing said loan, the Bennetts defaulted on said obligations. *CR 7, Compl.* ¶ 12. BEO thereafter brought an action against the Bennetts in Oregon state court and obtained judgment(s) against Plaintiffs. *CR 7, Compl.* ¶ 13. BEO then domesticated its Oregon state judgment(s) in Payette County, Idaho, in Case No. CV-2010-564. *CR 7, Compl.* ¶ 14, *CR 24-26*. The Abstract of Judgment filed in said case aggregates The Bennetts' obligations on four separate notes, one of which is for Loan No. 10576825 (though therein referred to as Note No. 10576825) for a principal sum of \$100,000.00 plus \$5,063.01 in interest and \$500.00 in

late fees for an aggregate balance of \$105,563.01 owed on said note. *CR 7-8, Compl. ¶ 14; CR 24-26.*

At no time prior to BEO domesticating its Oregon state judgment(s) in Payette County, did BEO exercise its rights under the deed of trust to foreclose on its lien interest in The Residence. *CR 8, Compl. ¶ 16.* At no time prior to BEO domesticating its Oregon state judgment(s) in Payette County, did BEO bring an action in Idaho in accordance with Idaho Code § 45-1503. *CR 8, Compl. ¶ 17.*

BEO recorded its Abstract of Judgment with the Payette County Recorder's Office on June 17, 2010 as Instrument No. 367053. *CR 8, Compl. ¶ 19; CR 24.* Pursuant to Idaho Code § 10-1110, BEO acquired a judgment lien in The Residence when it recorded its Abstract of Judgment with the Payette County Recorder's Office (hereinafter referred to as "BEO's Judgment Lien"). *CR 8, Compl. ¶ 20.* BEO never took any action to renew its Abstract of Judgment. *CR 9, Compl. ¶ 32.*

The Bennetts filed for chapter 7 bankruptcy relief on July 16, 2010 in the United States Bankruptcy Court for the District of Idaho; Case No. 10-02273-JDP. *CR 8-9, Compl. ¶ 21.* The Bankruptcy Court entered its Order Discharging Debtor on October 20, 2010. *CR 9, Compl. ¶ 22.*

BEO filed a proof of claim in the Bennetts' bankruptcy case. *CR 9, Compl. ¶ 23; CR 23.* Even though BEO was the beneficiary of the deed of trust and even had a judgment lien in The Residence, BEO asserted in the bankruptcy case that its claim for \$281,597.57 was completely

unsecured. *CR 9, Compl. ¶ 24; CR 24*. Based on BEO's unsecured claim, to which there were no objections, the bankruptcy estate disbursed to BEO \$4,658.38. *CR 9, Compl. ¶ 24; CR 31, 35*. The Bennetts' bankruptcy case closed on August 8, 2011. *CR 9, Compl. ¶ 26*.

Pursuant to Idaho Code §§ 5-214A, 45-1515, the time period in which BEO could foreclose on The Residence pursuant to its deed of trust expired no later than May 29, 2015.¹ *CR 9, Compl. ¶ 28*. At this present time, BEO has not, and refuses to, reconvey its beneficial interest in the deed of trust back to the Bennetts. *CR 9, Compl. ¶¶ 30 - 31*.

Pursuant to Idaho Code § 10-1111, BEO's Judgment Lien expired no later than July 8, 2016. *CR 10, Compl. ¶ 33*. BEO's Judgment Lien is therefore unenforceable. *CR 10, Compl. ¶ 34*. BEO recognizes that its Judgment Lien is expired by operation of law. *Reporter's Transcript (RT) p. 5, l. 3:5*. Yet still, BEO has not, and refuses to, release BEO's Judgment Lien. *CR 10, Compl. ¶¶ 35 - 36*.

BEO's deed of trust and its Judgment Lien cloud Plaintiffs' fee simple interest in The Residence and hinders their ability to alienate their interest in The Residence. *CR 10, Compl. ¶ 37*.

¹ That is computed by a period of five years since the deed of trust's stated maturity date of May 5, 2009, plus the 389 days that the 11 U.S.C. § 362(a) automatic stay prohibited BEO from taking any action to foreclose on The Residence. *CR 9, Compl. ¶¶ 26 - 28*.

ISSUED PRESENTED ON APPEAL

1. Whether a quiet title action, pursuant to Idaho Code § 6-412, may be maintained against a recorded judgment that is expired and unenforceable pursuant to Idaho Code § 10-1110.
2. Whether a quiet title action, pursuant to Idaho Code §§ 6-411 & 413 may be maintained by the grantor of a deed of trust against the grantee without proving that the obligation secured by such deed of trust has been paid.
3. Whether the domestication of a foreign judgment pursuant to Idaho's Enforcement of Foreign Judgments Act constitutes an "act or proceeding" excepted from Idaho's One Action Rule (I. C. § 45-1503(1)) in Idaho Code § 6-101(3), and if not, whether the remedy for such violation includes the waiver of the creditor's interest in the deed of trust that secured the obligation.

ATTORNEY'S FEES ON APPEAL

The Bennetts seek attorney fees on Appeal pursuant to Idaho Code 12-120(3) as the lien was granted to secure debt incurred during a commercial transaction. The Bennetts acquired the debt as part of the financing package for Apache Motorsports and/or Tomahawk Properties. *C.R. 19.*

ARGUMENT

1. The district court erred by holding that the Bennetts may not maintain an action under Idaho Code § 6-412 to quiet title against an expired judgment lien.

When BEO recorded its Abstract of Judgment, with the Payette County land record's office,

the judgment so recorded becomes a lien upon all real property of the judgment debtor in the county, not exempt from execution, owned by him at the time or acquired afterwards at any time prior to the expiration of the lien [...]. The lien resulting from recording of a judgment [...] continues five (5) years from the date of the judgment [.]

*Idaho Code § 10-1110.*²

BEO took no action to renew its judgment. BEO even recognizes that its judgment has expired. Its counsel conceded at the July 18th hearing: "First as kind of a preliminary matter, the judgment, I think it appears that everyone agrees the judgment is not an issue, that the judgment expired as a – by operation of law." *RT p. 4, l. 25: p. 5, l. 4*. There is no dispute that the BEO Judgment Lien has expired pursuant to Idaho Code § 10-1111 and is therefore unenforceable. The dispute then is whether the Bennetts are entitled to a judgment quieting title against an expired and unenforceable judgment lien that continues to cloud their interest in The Residence.

The Bennetts contend that pursuant to Idaho's codified law, they may bring an action to quiet title against an expired judgment.

² The statute has since been amended to extent the judgment's natural life to ten years instead of five. S.B. 1069, S.L. 2015, ch. 278, § 4. That change, however, did have retroactive applicability and applied to judgments entered on and after July 1, 2015. *Id. See also Smith v. Smith*, 164 Idaho 46, 50 n3 (2018).

QUIET TITLE ACTION — MAINTENANCE AGAINST JUDGMENT BARRED BY STATUTE OF LIMITATIONS. An action may be maintained to quiet title to lands against any judgment, the enforcement and collection of which is barred by the Statute of Limitations of the State of Idaho and which, except for the fact that its collection and enforcement is so barred by the Statute of Limitations, would constitute a lien upon said lands.

Idaho Code § 6-412. This allows a judgment debtor to maintain a cause of action to quiet title to any real property clouded by an expired and unenforceable judgment lien. It is an appropriate remedy when, as what happened in this case, the judgment holder refuses to release its expired judgment lien. The district court therefore erred in holding that because the judgment expired automatically by operation of law, the Bennetts do not have a cause of action under Idaho Code § 6-412. *RT p. 25, l. 2:8.*

The trial court's holding, in effect, denies the Bennetts standing to seek a declaratory judgment in this matter. In Idaho, a person interested in a contract whose rights are affected by a contract or statute may have determined any question of construction or validity arising under the contract or statute and obtain a declaration of rights, status, or other legal relations thereunder.

Idaho Code § 10-1202. A declaratory judgment can only be rendered in a case where an actual or justiciable controversy exists. *Wylie v. State*, 151 Idaho 26, 31 (2011). The controversy must be definite and concrete, touching the legal relations of the parties having adverse legal interests.

Id.

The right or status at issue 'may invoke either remedial or preventative relief; it may relate to a right that has either been breached or is only yet in dispute or a status undisturbed but threatened or endangered; but, in either or any event, it must involve actual and existing facts.'

Id. (citing *Harris v. Cassia County*, 106 Idaho 513, 516-17, 681 P.2d 988, 991-92 (1984)).

Here, in this case, there is an actual controversy. BEO's Judgment Lien has expired and is unenforceable, yet BEO refuses to release its lien to clear this cloud on the Bennett's interest in The Residence. *CR 10, Compl.* ¶¶ 36 & 37. BEO, by filing a motion to dismiss, has not denied those allegations. That BEO now concedes during the litigation that its Judgment Lien is expired and unenforceable, *RT p. 4, l. 25; p. 5, l. 4*, does not prevent the Bennetts from obtaining a judgment quieting title against BEO's Judgment Lien; especially when BEO refused to release the lien prior to the Bennetts initiating this suit.

2. The district court erred when it held the Bennetts may not quiet title against a stale and unenforceable deed of trust encumbering The Residence.

Idaho Code § 6-411 provides that

[a]n action may be maintained to quiet title to lands against any mortgage, the enforcement and collection of which is barred by the Statute of Limitations of the State of Idaho, and which, except for the fact that its collection and enforcement is so barred, would constitute a lien upon such lands.

Idaho Code § 6-411. Further, Idaho Code § 6-413 provides that

[t]he party seeking to maintain such action shall be entitled to a decree quieting title to his lands against the lien of any such judgment or mortgage upon proof that the collection and enforcement of such judgment or mortgage is barred by the Statute of Limitations and without the necessity of proving that any such judgment or the indebtedness secured by any such mortgage has been paid.

Idaho Code § 6-413. These statutes apply readily to the present case³: the enforcement and collection of BEO's deed of trust is barred by the statute of limitations, per Idaho Code sections 45-1515 and 5-214A. Thus, the Bennetts are entitled to a decree quieting title to The Residence against BEO's trust deed. The district court's conclusion otherwise ignores this direct and applicable Idaho statutory law.

The court applied *Trusty v. Ray*, 73 Idaho 232 (1952), to conclude that the Bennetts cannot quiet title against a BEO's deed of trust because there is no evidence that debt was paid.

When announcing its decision, the district court stated:

And I agree with the defendant that *Trusty versus Ray* is not inconsistent with Idaho Codes 6-411 and 413. And they say the general rule is that a mortgagor or his successor in interest cannot quiet title against a mortgagee while the secured debt remains unpaid, although the statute of limitations has run against the right to foreclose the mortgage. And I mean, there's nothing in the statutes, Title Six, that bars the plaintiff from bringing a quiet title action. But it's clear that when a plaintiff is in the same position as the plaintiffs are in this case, they can't bring a quiet title action until the debt on the mortgage has been paid.

TR p. 26, l. 14; p. 27, l. 2. The district court reconciled the differences between Idaho Code § 6-413 and the holding in *Trusty v. Ray*, by limiting the application to Idaho Code §§ 6-411 & 413 to third parties seeking to quiet title from someone else's debt, although no such limiting language is included in those statutes.

The district court made clear that it relied on *Trusty v. Ray*. *RT p. 26, l. 14:16; p. 27,*

³ While both sections specifically apply to "mortgages" (likely due to the fact that, at the time those statutes were passed, deeds of trust were not widely used as lien tools), the Idaho legislature has evidenced an intent to apply mortgage foreclosure statutes, in general, to foreclosure of deeds of trust. *See, e.g., Idaho Code section 45-1515*.

l.20: p. 28, l. 5. Although *Trusty v. Ray* was decided in 1952, it makes no reference to either § 6-411 or § 6-413, both of which were enacted in 1951 by H.B. 152 in the Idaho Legislature. 1951 Idaho Sess. Laws p. 272.⁴ It may be that no party called to the Court's attention those then newly enacted laws. The *Trusty v. Ray* opinion also does not refer to H.B. 152 or its legislative enactments, now codified at 6-411 through 6-413. Instead, the Court referred specifically to Idaho Code sections 55-817, 5-201, and 5-216. *Trusty*, 73 Idaho at 236-237. Thus, that case was decided on a different statutory scheme. Further, none of the various reported cases relying on *Trusty v. Ray* appear to recognize or cite sections 6-411 or 6-413.

Regardless of the specific reason that neither *Trusty* nor its progeny considered or applied these code sections, they are the law of the State of Idaho. “The legislative power is vested in the senate and house of representatives, Idaho Const. art. III, § 1, not in this Court.” *Verska v. St. Alphonsus Reg'l Med. Ctr.*, 151 Idaho 889, 895 (2011). “This Court does not have the authority to modify an unambiguous legislative enactment.” *Hoffer v. Shappard*, 160 Idaho 870, 884 (2016). “If the statutory language is unambiguous, the clearly expressed intent of the legislative body must be given effect.” *Id.* (quoting *Idaho Youth Ranch, Inc. v. Ada Cnty. Bd. of Equalization*, 157 Idaho 180, 184-85 (2014)). *Hoffer* reaffirmed this fundamental approach to separation of powers and the limits of the judiciary:

⁴ The full title of the Act, which appeared in Chapter 117, was “An act providing that an action may be maintained to quiet title against a mortgage or a judgment, the collection and enforcement of which mortgage or judgment is barred by the statute of limitations of the state of Idaho without requiring proof that said judgment has been paid or that the amount secured by such mortgage has been paid; and declaring an emergency.”

We can conceive of no principles of law that are more plain or obvious than these: (1) it is the province of the Legislature to make and amend laws; and (2) this Court is without authority to amend laws enacted by the Legislature because we think them unwise. *See* Idaho Const. art. III, § 1 ('The legislative power of the state shall be vested in a senate and house of representatives. ...'); Idaho Const. art. II, § 1 ('no . . . collection of persons charged with the exercise of powers properly belong[ing] to one of these departments shall exercise any powers properly belong[ing] to either of the others. ...').

Id. at 885.

In 1951, the Idaho Legislature ratified and the Governor signed into law House Bill 152, enacting Idaho Code sections 6-411 through 6-413. These unambiguous statutes apply here. The statute of limitations has run on BEO's opportunity to foreclose the deed of trust, and the Bennetts are therefore entitled to a decree in their name quieting title of the property secured by the deed of trust. The Bennetts respectfully request this Court reverse the district court's judgment dismissing the case and remand with instruction to deny BEO's Motion to Dismiss.

3. In the event the Court prohibits the Bennetts from quieting title against BEO's deed of trust for failure to first satisfy the underlying obligation, the Bennetts should still be able to quiet title against BEO's deed of trust to due to BEO's failure to abide by Idaho Code §§ 45-1503, Idaho's One Action Rule.

Idaho's One Action Rule generally requires a creditor secured by a deed of trust to first seek recourse in the real property secured by such deed of trust (i.e., foreclose) before it seeks its *in personam* recourse against the debtor. *Idaho Code § 45 -1503(1)*. "The purposes of the one action rule are to prevent a secured creditor from enforcing its rights by seeking recourse to more than one remedy, such as by obtaining both a money judgment on the mortgage debt and by foreclosing on the mortgage, [...]." 55 Am.Jur. 2d *Mortgages* § 455 (2009).

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