Uldaho Law

## Digital Commons @ Uldaho Law

---

Idaho Supreme Court Records & Briefs, All

Idaho Supreme Court Records & Briefs

---

2-4-2020

### Bennett v. Bank of Eastern Oregon Respondent's Brief Dckt. 47346

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

## V. ARGUMENT

**A. Bennetts' action for quiet title against the expired judgment lien is moot because the judgment fails to create a cloud on title by operation of law, and because it involves a debt for which a remaining deed of trust exists.**

In ruling on the motion to dismiss relating to the expired judgment, the Trial Court did not rule (as suggested by Bennetts' App. Br., p.10) that the Bennetts "may not maintain an

action...” Rather, the Court correctly noted that it is a “nonissue” (Tr. p. 24, L. 14-16). It is a nonissue for three reasons.

**1. Bennetts’ action to quiet title for the expired judgment lien is moot because there is, by operation of law, no cloud on title.**

Chapter 10 of the Idaho Code makes clear that liens resulting from the recordation of a judgment expire by operation of law and cease to encumber property following expiration. As written in 2011, at the time of recordation of the abstract of judgment, liens resulting from such recordation “continue[d] five (5) years from the date of the judgment”, unless the judgment was satisfied before such time. Idaho Code § 10-1110 (2011 version). Idaho Code § 10-1111 also reiterates the impact of the five (5) year lien when discussing the ability to renew such liens, where it reads: “Unless the judgment has been satisfied, at any time prior to *the expiration of the lien* created by section 10-1110, Idaho Code.” (emphasis added). This language means that impact of a failure to renew is not simply a loss of the lien's priority position with respect the property, the lien is lost and renewal of the judgment and refileing is required to gain a new lien interest in the property. “Idaho Code section 10-1111(1) does not allow for sua sponte renewal” *Grazer v. Jones*, 154 Idaho 58, 69 (2013). Idaho law simply does not allow a lien to continue to encumber the property past the applicable time allowed by statute.

**2. Bennetts conceded that the expired judgment lien no longer creates a cloud on title.**

In the course of argument in the Trial Court, the judge questioned whether the judgment is a nonissue, asking Bennetts’ counsel, “It does not show up on a title report; right?” (Tr. p.24,

L.14-16) Bennetts' counsel responded: "Well, your honor, it did previously show up on a title report. And I think the title company may have taken it off based upon some argument." (Tr. p.24, L. 17-20).

Where the judgment has expired by operation of law, and is admittedly removed as an exception on the title report, there is no error in denying the request for quiet title.

**3. Bennetts' claim regarding the judgment is moot because the lien of the deed of trust remains a lien against the property regardless of the judgment.**

As discussed below, the lien of the deed of trust survives even after expiration of BEO's remedies for its enforcement. In these circumstances, quieting title against the expired judgment would be merely a symbolic act. If it were error to deny quiet title in this situation, it would be harmless error Idaho R. Civ. P. 61.

**4. Bennetts cite no authority for an obligation to "release" an expired judgment lien and have not pleaded a claim for declaratory judgment.**

Bennetts allege in their complaint (R. p. 9, L. 18-19, p. 10, L. 4-5) and repeatedly refer to BEO's "failure" and "refusal" to release the judgment lien or reconvey their interest in the trust deed. (App. Br., p. 11-12). However, Bennetts do not cite to any source creating the duty on the part of BEO to take any affirmative action with respect to these obligations. Certainly, a creditor is obligated to satisfy a judgment or deed trust once it is paid in full, but has no duty to remove or satisfy otherwise. To read otherwise would force a creditor to incorrectly assert the debt has been satisfied when such is not the case.

Bennetts also argue, for the first time, that the trial court’s ruling “denies the Bennetts’ standing to seek a declaratory judgment in this matter” (App. Br., p. 11). Bennetts did not plead a claim for declaratory judgment in the complaint and did not raise any issue regarding declaratory judgment in their brief or argument in the trial court.

**B. Because of this Court’s holding in *Trusty v. Ray*, Bennetts may not seek quiet title against the deed of trust without alleging or tendering payment.**

Bennetts are not entitled to the remedy of quiet title against BEO because they have not pled tender of the debt obligation owing for which the trust deed is security. Idaho law is well settled in this regard under the principles enumerated in *Trusty v. Ray*, which remain unimpaired by Idaho Code § 6-411 and § 6-413: “The general rule is that a mortgagor or his successor in interest cannot quiet title against a mortgagee, while the secured debt remains unpaid, although the statute of limitations has run against the right to foreclose the mortgage.” *Trusty v. Ray*, 73 Idaho 232, 236 (1952).

While a quiet title action is a challenge to the defendant’s interest in the property, the plaintiff is asserting his or her own interest in the property in bringing the action. *Eagle Equity Fund, LLC v. TitleOne Corporation*, 161 Idaho 355, 362 (2016) (citing *Silver Eagle Mining Co. v. State*, 153 Idaho 179, 181 (2012)). A plaintiff seeking to quiet title “must succeed on the strength of his or her own interest and may not rely upon the weakness of his or her adversary’s interest.” *Aldape v. Akins*, 105 Idaho 254, 260 (Ct. App. 1983) (citing *Pincock v. Pocatello Gold & Copper Min. Co. Inc.*, 100 Idaho 325, 331 (1979)).

Bennetts do not deny that the holding of *Trusty v. Ray* would bar their claim for quiet title against Defendant; instead their entire argument is based on the contention that the holding of *Trusty v. Ray* conflicts with § 6-411 and § 6-413 and is therefore superseded by the enactment of those statutes. Despite the apparent conflict between the language contained in § 6-413 with the holding of *Trusty*, a review of the equitable principles which form the basis for *Trusty* show that the two are able to co-exist without conflict.

Idaho courts have long held that those who seek equity must do equity. *Burke Land & Live-Stock Co. v. Wells, Fargo & Co.*, 7 Idaho 42, 59 (1900). That principle has been held to apply to quiet title actions. Quiet title suits are equitable claims for relief by a party seeking to clear title. *Beal v. Mars Larsen Ranch Corp. Inc.*, 99 Idaho 662, 667 (1978). A mortgage made unenforceable by the running of the applicable statute of limitations still qualifies as a cloud on title to real property. When clearing a cloud on title, a mortgagor's duty to act equitably by paying his debt continues even after enforcement has been barred by the statute of limitations. *Mendini v. Milner*, 47 Idaho 439, 445-46 (1929); *Miller v. Monroe*, 50 Idaho 726, 731 (1931). A statute of limitations may not be used other than as a shield or defense against the enforcement of a claim; it may not be used as a sword. 164 A.L.R. 1387.

In order to “do equity” as a condition to receive the equitable relief sought in a suit for quiet title, a “mortgagor or other person under a moral obligation to pay a debt notwithstanding the bar of its enforcement arising from the statute of limitations . . . may have such a mortgage lien removed as a cloud only upon the condition that he pay the amount which in equity he owes.” *Id.* “Where there is no privity of relation between the mortgagor and the person seeking

to have the mortgage removed as a cloud, or to have his title quieted as against the mortgagee, and the latter is under no moral obligation to pay the mortgage debt, the courts seem generally to regard the situation as one appropriate for granting of affirmative relief without exacting any condition of payment.” *Id.*

As a preliminary matter, *Trusty v. Ray* was decided 17 months following the enactment of the two (2) statutes relied upon by the Bennetts. Bennetts ask this Court to presume that because the Court in *Trusty* did not specifically cite to § 6-411 and § 6-413, no party called attention to these new statutes as applicable to the case, or that it was decided on a different statutory scheme. In support of this argument, Bennetts cite the statutes listed in *Trusty* which specifically relate to the applicable statutes of limitations which applied to the mortgage in question. As Idaho Code § 6-401 codifies the right to bring quiet title actions in Idaho and was enacted in 1937, the case was certainly analyzed under the framework of the statutory scheme outlined in Title 6, Chapter 4 of the Idaho Code. Further contradicting Bennetts’ argument that the Court may not have been aware of new legislation applicable to the case at bar is the dissenting opinion issued by Justice Keeton where an amendment to Idaho Code § 55-817 made by the same legislative session enacting § 6-411 and § 6-413 was noted. See *Trusty*, 73 Idaho at 239. Had the enactment of § 6-411 and § 6-413 had the effect asserted by Bennetts in this case, the outcome of *Trusty* would have been different.

Sections 6-411 and 6-413 address situations where a party seeking to quiet title against the interest of a mortgage which has been barred by the applicable statute of limitations and the party seeking such relief is not in privity with the original mortgagor or is not under a

moral obligation to pay the mortgage debt, he or she may be granted the equitable relief. Any interpretation of these statutes contrary to this interpretation would grant mortgagors a windfall in an equitable case by allowing them to remove a lien against real property without paying the underlying obligation they are morally obligated to satisfy. This is inconsistent with the maxim of one must do equity to receive equity.

Idaho Courts have repeatedly cited *Trusty v. Ray* in dismissing case after case where a party seeks to quiet title against a lien created by a mortgage and where the plaintiff has failed to plead payment or tender of the secured obligation. See *Purdy v. Aegis Wholesale Corp.*, Civil No. 1:11-cv-00640-EJL-REB, 2012 WL 4470945 (D. Idaho Aug. 17, 2012); *In re Mullin*, 402 B.R. 353 (Bankr. D. Idaho 2008); *Ohlsen v. Bank of America, N.A.*, Civil No. 1:11-cv-00357-BLW-REB, 2012 WL 3285587 (D. Idaho Aug. 10, 2012); *Hobson v. Wells Fargo Bank, N.A.*, No. 1:11-cv-00196-BLW, 2012 WL 505917 (D. Idaho Feb. 15, 2012). Also worth noting are two articles published in the Idaho State Bar journal which have confirmed the status of Idaho law as it applies to the case at bar as BEO argues here. Derrick J. O'Neill & Lewis N. Stoddard, *Zombies Attack!*, *The Advocate*, Nov./Dec. 2019, at 36; Kelly Greene McConnell, *No Free Houses: Few Mortgages Have Fatal Flaws*, *The Advocate*, Jan., 2012, at 30.

Modern Idaho Supreme Court decisions have continued to uphold the principles articulated in *Trusty*. In *Losee v. Idaho Co.*, the Idaho Supreme Court held that in order to remove a cloud upon title, a debtor has the burden of showing that the title is free from encumbrance. *Losee v. Idaho Co.*, 148 Idaho 219, 222 (2009). Under Idaho Law, lapse of the statutory period does not remove an encumbrance. A statute of limitations in Idaho is a statute of



repose, “lapse of the statutory period bars the remedy to enforce the debt but does not extinguish the debt.” *Hirning v. Webb*, 91 Idaho 229, 231 (1966).

Nothing in § 6-411 and § 6-413 does anything to abrogate the long held principle that mortgagors cannot assert superior title to a mortgagee where a moral obligation exists to pay the underlying debt unless the debt has been paid or tender therefore has been made. Absent such a pleading, Bennetts’ quiet title suit must be dismissed.

**C. Bennetts’ filing of its Oregon judgment pursuant to the EFJA does not run afoul of Idaho’s One Action rule codified in Idaho Code § § 45-1503 and 6-101.**

Bennetts’ interpretation of Idaho Code § § 45-1503 and 6-101 would establish a dangerous approach to the Court’s interpretation of Idaho’s one action rule and the codified exceptions in direct contravention of the language set forth in Idaho Code § 6-101(2). While it is true Idaho’s adoption of a one action rule does restrict the common law right to bring an action on a debt, note or bond secured by a mortgage, such statutes should be strictly construed because they are a derogation of a common-law right to pursue alternative remedies at the same time. 59 C.J.S. *Mortgages* § 455 (2019). The Idaho Legislature has codified this principle in the exceptions to the one action rule set out in Idaho Code § 6-101(3) and the directive of Idaho Code § 6-101(2) which requires the rule be “construed in order to permit a secured creditor to realize upon collateral for a debt or other obligation otherwise agreed upon by the debtor and creditor.” Bennetts urged interpretation runs directly in opposition to this intent behind the one-action rule’s limitations.

BEO's filing of the foreign judgment is permitted under of the one-action rule. The impact of the one action rule is to bar an action to foreclose on the trust deed, not to invalidate the lien of the trust deed. The Court should uphold the Trial Court's dismissal of Bennetts' claim.

**1. Domestication of a Foreign Judgment which is exempt under Idaho Code §6-101(3)(d) is not a separate action from the underlying suit and therefore does not violate the one action rule.**

Bennetts ask this Court to hold that the simple act of filing a judgment under the Enforcement of Foreign Judgments Act (EFJA) qualifies, on its own, as an "action" for the recovery of a debt. Such a contention is contradictory to Idaho case law and the purposes and intent behind Idaho's one action rule.

As a preliminary matter, the filing of a foreign judgment under the EFJA is not a case separate from the underlying action. *Grazer v. Jones*, 154 Idaho 58 (2013). Furthermore, the filing of a foreign judgment under the EFJA is not properly considered an action based on the foreign judgment. *Id.* at 65. Idaho case law is clear; the filing of a foreign judgment is simply an extension of the underlying action and is not a separate act to seek in personam recovery from the debtor.

The filing of a foreign judgment does not, on its own, create any execution against the assets of the debtor. A party filing a foreign judgment must pursue execution on that judgment in order to realize on the obligation reflected in the judgment. Until such action is taken, there is nothing distinct from the underlying case to violate the one action rule. This was precisely the point behind the holding in *Grazer*; no new Idaho judgment is created by an EFJA filing. Absent

a separate “action” on the debt, the one-action rule is not violated and Plaintiff would retain the defense created in Idaho Code § 45-1503 in the event the judgment creditor sought execution of the foreign judgment.

Even if such a filing of a foreign judgment under the EFJA was a separate action, distinct from the underlying case, Idaho Code § 6-101(m) would exempt it from application of the one action rule because the registration of the judgment does not, by itself, include the collection of the debt or the enforcement of the obligation. This is the only interpretation which keeps the mandate of Idaho Code § 6-101(2) intact.

**2. The impact of violation of the one action rule is a bar to foreclosure of the trust deed, not invalidation of the lien of the trust deed as suggested by Bennetts.**

Idaho Code § 45-1505(4) bars foreclosure of a trust deed by advertisement and sale where another action, suit or proceed has been commenced and not dismissed. Idaho Code § 45-1503 provides a further remedy in form of blocking judicial action against the grantor unless the action is specifically exempt. Nowhere in the statute does the Idaho legislature indicate an intent that violation of the one action rule should invalidate the lien of the trust deed. Because the one action rule is a derogation of the common law right to pursue alternative remedies, the Court should not imply any impact to the statute not clearly manifested in the language approved by the legislature. Had the legislature intended for a violation of the one action rule to invalidate the lien of the trust deed, it could have easily so provided. The Court should interpret the language of the statutes narrowly. Even if BEO was found to have violated the one act rule by filing its own judgment, had the impact would simply be the loss of the ability to foreclose on the trust deed.

As discussed above, the inability to foreclose on a trust deed does not invalidate the lien against the property.

At its core, Idaho's one action rule is a defense to actions on debts secured by real property. Bennetts ask this Court, in a case in equity, to use the rule to grant them a windfall. Such an outcome is directly contrary to the principles articulated in the *Trusty* case as discussed above. Neither Idaho's one action rule nor the principles of equity allow such an outcome.

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